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MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD CHAIR 
 

On behalf of the Board of Governors, I am pleased to introduce the 2012-2013 Annual Report for Northern 
College.  
 
2012-2013 saw the completion of the final year of the 2010-2013 Strategic Operating Plan and the college 
was very successful in achieving initiatives as evidenced in this annual report.  Guided by five overarching 
pillars, the college made great achievements in each strategic area and continued to provide greater 
access to education and increased learning opportunities through new programs and innovative delivery 
methods.  
 
One particular initiative of great importance to our college, our students and our community partners was 
realized with the grand opening of a permanent tipi at the Porcupine Campus and the provision of portable 
tipis at our other campuses.  The Board recognizes and supports the college’s commitment to increasing 
cross cultural awareness and providing opportunities for exchange—this remains a focus in the new 
strategic plan.  
 
With a dedication to learners and the communities it serves, the college achieved objectives that elevated 
quality learning and student success.  An increase in applied research projects has contributed in a very 
tangible way to relevant, hands-on learning – this not only benefits learners but also supports local 
businesses and advances innovation.  Northern also continued to expand in the area of international 
programs and signed a unique collaboration agreement with the five other northern colleges—a first in the 
province!  Another significant partnership was reached with Queen’s University as the college continues to 
seek partnerships and provide opportunities for graduates to be granted advanced standing into a degree 
program. 
 
In September, the Board of Governors was pleased to approve a new strategic plan that will guide the 
college’s initiatives between April 2013 and March 2016 and looks forward to the same level of exciting 
initiatives and accomplishments.  
 
All of this year’s successes and advancements would not be possible without the college investing in 
organizational development and renewal as well as in its human resources; these pillars have become 
ingrained into the college’s organizational culture.  Accordingly, the Board recognizes and thanks all college 
employees for their dedication, hard work and contribution to another very successful year! 
 
 
 
Robert McBean, Chair 
Northern College Board of Governors 

 
 
  



 

-4- 

MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT 
 
The last year at Northern College can be summarized by three very powerful words – partnership, 
innovation and commitment.   
 
Our initiatives for this academic year were guided by the five pillars of our Strategic Operating Plan which 
concluded March 31st of this year. The first pillar, Community-Based Access directed the college’s efforts in 
seeking and establishing partnerships, fostering collaboration and innovation and expanding quality 
learning opportunities.  
 
2012-2013 was a hallmark year for collaboration and saw the signing of several significant memorandums 
of understanding and articulation agreements between our fellow colleges and universities.  These 
partnerships reveal a pledge to providing increased student access not only by Northern College but 
throughout the post-secondary education system in Ontario. By working together we are better able to 
expand program offerings, increase educational access and provide enhanced student support throughout 
northern Ontario. 
 
Through the pillar of Aboriginal Choices and Directions, Northern College has taken great strides to 
become an enriched environment of cultural understanding, respect and diversity.  We have been steadfast 
in our efforts to impact the participation, retention and success of Aboriginal learners while enhancing 
partnerships with First Nation communities. We formalized an Elders on Campus initiative at all four of our 
campuses, broke ground and celebrated Aboriginal culture with the construction of a permanent Tipi at the 
Porcupine Campus, embedded Aboriginal culture into program curriculum and provided students, staff and 
faculty with numerous opportunities to learn about Aboriginal culture while taking part in traditional 
activities.  
 
Northern College is committed to building capacity by responding to the needs and choices of the 
Aboriginal communities that we serve. In direct response to labour market demands and identified training 
requirements,  we have expanded the delivery of programs in First Nation communities, as well as at the 
Moosonee Campus. We have developed strategic partnerships that support social and economic 
development for the benefit of our learners and the region. 
 
An emphasis on organizational development and renewal formed the third pillar and channelled our 
activities to increase advocacy efforts, build infrastructure and capacity, increase efficiency and productivity 
and implement quality improvement strategies. Northern College submitted a strategic mandate agreement 
to the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities that was reflective of our program areas of expertise 
advocating for an appropriate agreement defining the college’s unique role in post-secondary education. 
Northern continuously participates in post-secondary education vision consultations while encouraging 
fairer distribution of provincial funding.  
 
Renovations to our campuses have resulted in better space utilization, upgraded labs, and increased 
accessibility. Updating policies, procedures and process standards has ensured consistency and service 
excellence throughout the college. We have worked diligently to provide an equitable, accessible learning 
environment.   
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The Focus on Learners pillar of the Strategic Operating Plan ensured that our undertakings resulted in 
quality learning and student success, enhanced outreach activities and innovation through partnerships. A 
student success plan has been initiated to impact learner achievement and retention while a college-wide 
process to support and enhance distance learning has been implemented – both with the intention of 
improving  learner outcomes. We are committed to our mission of success for all through learning and 
partnerships. 
 
A focus on human resources, our fifth pillar, was our commitment to achieve excellence through our most 
valued asset—our people—by enhancing employee development, nurturing positive relationships, and 
strengthening recruitment and retention practices. We’ve developed a professional development policy that 
promotes continuous learning with an emphasis on skills development and customer service so that our 
staff always provides the highest quality experience to our learners.  
 
This last year also marked a year of transformation as the college’s new Strategic Plan was cultivated and 
refined. The plan, which was shaped by extensive input from over 1000 internal and external stakeholders, 
is a tangible reflection of the insights of our students, staff and community members. Through this dialogue, 
we have developed four strategic directions that support and reiterate our commitment to continuous 
improvement, partnerships and success for the northern communities we serve. Each builds on the range 
of strengths and assets that our campuses offer, and leverages shared infrastructure and administration 
that help us spend our dollars wisely. Each transcends the boundaries of traditional college functions, 
providing direction to all employees and learners regardless of their location or role in the organization.  
 
Our core dedication to providing access and mobility for learners has proven to be our strength. Each and 
every initiative brought forth and completed over the past year was carried out  with our students and 
communities in mind.  
 
I would like to acknowledge and commend the collective efforts of all staff members in the accomplishment 
of a very ambitious set of initiatives contained in the 2012-2013 Business Plan. 
 
 
 
 
Fred Gibbons, 
President & CEO 
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Northern College Administrators  

 
 

Position Name 

President Fred Gibbons 
Executive Assistant, Office of the President and Board of Governors Pierrette Fortier 
V.P., Finance, Administration and Aboriginal Services Loran Charbonneau 
Executive Assistant, Office of the V.P. Finance, Administration & 

Aboriginal Services Kathy Gagain 

V.P., Community, Business Development and Employment Services Bob Mack 
V.P., Academic and Student Success Peter MacLean 
Director of Student Services, Institutional Research and Registrar Lynn Berthiaume 
Director of Business, Justice and Science Programs / Manager of 

College Foundation Doug Clark 

Director of Trades and Technology Tori Hanson 
Director of Health Sciences, Community and Emergency Services Judy Rantala 
Manager, Student and Campus Services-JBEC and Acting Manager, 

Aboriginal Services Diane Ryder 

Academic Manager, Trades and Technology Christine Heavens 
Academic Manager, Health Sciences, Community & Emergency Services Sarah Campbell 
Project Coordinator, First Year Experience Services  Kelly Torresan 
Manager of Distance Learning Sara Munroe 
Manager of Marketing, Communications and Alumni Crystal Bresson 
Campus Manager, Porcupine Christine Bender 
Campus Manager, Kirkland Lake Allan  French 
Campus Manager, Haileybury Tammy Mackey 
Manager, Admissions, Student Recruitment and Second Career Rosa Lavoie 
Director, Plant & Property and Information Technology Tony Senyuk 
Supervisor, Employee Relations Cheryl Carbone 
Human Resource Services Recruitment and Retention Supervisor Sarah Gravel 
Human Resource Services Generalist Natalie Dorval 
Manager, Employment Services and Academic Upgrading Johanne Recoskie 
Manager, East End Family Health Team  Darlene Landriault 
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Vision 

Success for all through learning and partnerships. 
 

Mission 

To ensure quality, accessible education through innovative programs, services and 
partnerships, for the benefit of our communities. 

 
Motto 

Your college. Your community. 
 
Guiding Principles 

• Learning for success.  
• Career opportunities through innovative education and transferable skills.  
• Practical, hands-on experiences.  
• Value for your investment.  
• Support for lifelong learning.  
• A healthy, adaptive and progressive organizational culture.  

  
Commitments 

At Northern College, we:  
• Are open, consultative and accountable.  
• Act with personal responsibility and integrity.  
• Pursue collaborative partnerships and entrepreneurial opportunities to better serve all of our  communities.  
• Foster and encourage a safe, caring and respectful organizational culture.  
• Support, nurture and celebrate the contributions and accomplishments of learners and employees.  
• Respond to the choices and directions of Aboriginal peoples.  
• Establish an organizational culture that reflects the diversity of our communities.  
• Engage in applied research in the pursuit of northern development and continuous improvement.  
• Connect our learners and communities through the innovative application of technology.  
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2010-2013 STRATEGIC OPERATING PLAN OVERVIEW 

 
 
 
Community-Based Access 

C O L L E G E .  C O M M U N I T I E S .  C O N N E C T I O N S .  
 
Build on our role as a committed community partner to provide greater access to quality education and training 
opportunities in the North.  

 
 
Aboriginal Choices and Directions 

V I S I O N .  W I S D O M .  C H O I C E S .  
 
Draw upon the wisdom of First Nations peoples to create an organizational culture that inspires and supports our 
personal and collective endeavors to respond to their choices and directions.  

 
 
Organization Development and Renewal  

R E N E W .  G R O W .  L E A D .  
 
Increase quality and performance capacity through continuous improvement and renewal. 
 

 
Focus on Learners   

D I V E R S I T Y .  P O T E N T I A L .  S U C C E S S .  
 
Prepare graduates who reflect the quality and value of a Northern College education and who contribute to their 
communities.  

 
 
Focus on Human Resources 

C O M M I T M E N T .  A C H I E V E M E N T .  E X C E L L E N C E .   
 
Create an environment in which employees can flourish personally and professionally, maintain a learner-
centered approach, and contribute to the achievement of College and community development goals.  

 
 
Annual Report Format 
 
The format for this Annual Report reflects the five pillars of our Strategic Operating Plan.  All of the initiatives that were 
undertaken in 2012/2013 are grouped under an appropriate pillar.  Supporting and explaining each initiative are indicators of 
how the college measured the success of the initiative. 
 



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
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1. COMMUNITY BASED ACCESS   (College. Communities. Connections.) 
 

2012-2013 – Community-Based Access 
 

Objective 1.1:  expand quality learning opportunities by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

1.1.1 Expanding programming into 
additional communities/sites 

Programs offered at additional 
communities/sites 

Programs expanded into three 
additional communities by  
March 2013 

Y Computer Science (Years 1&2) and Pre-Health 
expanded to Kirkland Lake January 2013 

Business Management Certificate expanded to all 
campuses and Contact North for the first time 
January 2013 

1.1.2 Delivering both Corporate 
Training and Continuing 
Education programs/courses 
using alternate delivery methods 
throughout northeastern Ontario 

Use of video/telepresence 
equipment increased 

Minimum of two programs/courses 
offered to corporate clients and 
minimum of two programs/courses 
offered through Continuing 
Education by March 2013 

P Learning and disAbilities hosted ‘Removing the 
Stigma – An Evening with Valerie and Catherine 
Pringle’ October 2012 in support of mental health 
awareness by ‘live feed’ to all four campuses and 
invited the public to attend 

Continuing Education offered Aboriginal Social and 
Economic Development and Health & Safety courses 
by distance Fall 2012 

1.1.3 Providing student success 
workshops and other support 
tools specifically for distance 
learning students 

Variety of workshops and/or 
support tools planned and 
implemented by First Year 
Experience (FYE) with assistance 
from the Distance Learning Team 

Y A total of 316 advising sessions were delivered to a 
total of 65 distance learners by the FYE Team at the 
start of the academic year 

Workshops provided prior to 
semester and throughout year 

39 distance learners participated in workshops 

Expected to reach 150 students 
college-wide by March 2013 

FYE packages with agendas, study tips and freebies 
and FYE services outline were distributed to 100+ 
distance learners.  All packages now available 
asynchronously 

 
  



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
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2012-2013 – Community-Based Access 
 

Objective 1.2:  foster collaboration and innovation by: 

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Initiative Outcomes 

1.2.1 Submitting funding applications in 
support of applied research 

Applications submitted 

Minimum of two applications 
submitted by March 2013 

Y Colleges Ontario Network for Industry Innovation 
(CONII) competitive application successful for 
MediTech project with Vet Sciences   

Digital Technology Adoption Pilot Program (DTAPP) 
application submitted and approved August 2012 for 
five client pre-assessments and four full 
engagements + follow up. This led to two additional 
applied research projects for Computer Science, 
integrated into two courses 

Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council 
applied research development application for OVRX/ 
Instrumentation Engineering Technician program 
submitted and approved January 2013  

1.2.2 Partnering with a number of 
northern colleges to explore the 
feasibility of collaborating on low 
enrolment programs 

Feasibility explored to  
co-deliver, for example, the 
Haileybury School of Mines brand 
of mining 

Haileybury School of Mines brand 
of mining offered through other 
colleges by January 2013 

Y Six northern colleges (Boréal, Cambrian, Canadore, 
Confederation, Sault, and Northern College) signed 
an agreement to take a collaborative approach for 
student access to programming and services 

Track established for students in Confederation 
College’s Mining Techniques program to enter year 
two of the Mining Engineering Technician program 

Northern and Fleming have developed the program 
synopsis for a 2-year School of Environmental & 
Natural Resource Sciences (SENRS) program with 
the first year closely mirroring Fleming's Ecosystem 
Management Technician and Forestry Technician 
program 

Heads of Business of Northern Ontario English 
Colleges Applied Arts and Technology (CAAT) met 
regarding collaboration, cross-teaching and co-
promotion of low enrolment years and specialty 
business programs 

Some business courses shared between Cambrian 
and Northern  

1.2.3 Partnering with a number of 
colleges in Ontario to explore the 
feasibility of co-developing new 
programs for Northern College 

Feasibility explored to co-develop 
a new program suitable for this 
area and for the needs of the First 
Nations communities.  For 
example, a new natural resources 
program 

New natural resources program 
prepared for delivery by 
September 2013 

Y Memorandum of Understanding between Fleming, 
Northern and Confederation College now signed  

 
 
  



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
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2012-2013 – Community-Based Access 
 

Objective 1.3:  seek and establish partnerships by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

1.3.1 Researching new 
collaborations/partnerships  
– college-to-college and  
college-to-university 

Research undertaken and 
completed 

Feasibility of one new collaborative 
agreement researched for college-
to-college pathway, and two new 
collaborations for college-to-
university by March 2013 

Y MOU completed between Queen’s University and 
Northern College for new GeoMining-type 
Engineering program to be jointly offered 

Agreement for Northern technology program 
graduates to enter Level IV of McMaster-Mohawk 
Bachelor of Technology degree with 75% average  

Northern participated in province-wide planning for 
seven transfer agreements (college-college and 
college-university in Accounting, Human Resource 
Management, Business & Marketing)  
• college-college Accounting transfer (transfer 

between colleges after 1st or 2nd year);  
• college-university  

Accounting (2 plus bridge plus 2) 
Human Resources (3 plus 2) 

Provided course outlines to Conestoga to enable 
graduates to transfer into the third year Bachelor of 
Business Administration  

Law Clerk articulation with University of Fredericton / 
Husson University B.Sc. in Criminal Justice 

Written agreement with University of Fredericton / 
Husson University for Police Foundations students to 
obtain credit for one year of the Bachelor of Applied 
Arts in Criminal Justice 

1.3.2 Partnering with external agencies 
to seek resources for both 
course/program development and 
student services  

New partnerships developed with 
industries and agencies. 

Two new partnerships developed 
by March 2013. 

Y Established partnership with Cochrane Temiskaming 
Resource Centre (CTRC) for day care initiative as 
student learning activity-working group in situ.  Pilot 
scheduled to begin September 2013 

Established relationship with Canadian Mental 
Health Association (CMHA) and Timiskaming Health 
Unit to increase access for students seeking mental 
health support 

1.3.3 Expanding the number of 
Corporate Training short programs 
in our communities through the 
development of new partnerships 
with local employers and/or 
funding bodies 

New partnerships and increased 
number of Corporate Training 
short programs developed 

Two additional programs offered 
by December 2012 

Y Discussions held with Payukotayno Family Services 
in Moosonee to develop a pre-employment 
customized certificate program 

Partnership developed with K. Rowe and Associates 
to offer Due Diligence Training for local industry   

Partnership developed with Trimedia Inc. to offer 
Conflict Resolution and Supervisory Management 
courses 

Partnership developed with the Public Health Safety 
Association to offer Health and Safety Certification 
Program, Part 1 and 2  
 
 
 



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
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2012-2013 – Community-Based Access 
 

Objective 1.3:  seek and establish partnerships by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

1.3.4 Expanding through partnerships 
the number of Continuing 
Education courses in our 
communities 

New courses offered with 
community members and 
community organizations  
(e.g. Aboriginal groups) as result of 
new partnerships 

P Discussions held with Ontario Works Office, WSIB 
and specifically with Micro-Tel Hotels to develop a 
“work preparation” course 

Eight new Continuing Education 
courses offered college-wide by 
March 2013 

1.3.5 Expanding the number of 
international joint venture 
partnerships through further 
licensing of program curriculum 

New partnerships with Chinese 
colleges and universities 
developed to offer Northern 
College programs of instruction 

P New partnerships established with: 
-Xijing University 
-Xinxiang University 
-Pingdingshan Industrial College 

Partnerships established resulting 
in 75 new students by March 2013 

Post secondary education reforms in China 
adversely impacted 2012/13 enrolment 

1.3.6 Expanding the India Project 
Partnership with Centennial and 
Confederation colleges 

International student enrolment at 
Northern College increased 

5-10 new international students 
from India enrolled by March 2013 

Y 5 international students from India enrolled:   
• 4 Environmental Technician  
• 1 Electrical Technician 

1.3.7 Hiring/developing new agents and 
recruitment efforts in China 

New partnership with GrokChina 
and Confederation College to 
establish an agent base for 
recruitment of Chinese students to 
Northern College 

5-10 agents targeted by 
GrokChina staff by 2013 as a base 
for Northern College to enter into 
agreements for recruitment of 
students 

Y GrokChina staff attended Northern College for one 
week, mid-September, to gather information about 
Northern College to promote to potential agents 

 
  



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
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2. ABORIGINAL CHOICES AND DIRECTIONS   (Vision. Wisdom. Choices.) 
 

2012-2013 – Aboriginal Choices and Directions 
 

Objective 2.1:  increase awareness and understanding by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

2.1.1 Formalizing an Elders program for 
each campus 

Elders program formalized and 
established March 2013 Y Elders program successfully initiated at all four 

campuses September 2012 

2.1.2 Building a Tipi to serve as a 
meeting and sharing place at the 
Porcupine Campus 

Tipi constructed at Porcupine 
Campus by October 2012 Y Tipi completed and officially opened 

2.1.3 Incorporating Aboriginal 
perspectives into curriculum 

Aboriginal perspectives 
incorporated 

Aboriginal content embedded into 
three courses by September 2013 

Y Aboriginal perspectives embedded in all community 
services programs, Bachelor of Science in Nursing, 
Practical Nursing and Paramedic programs.  Plan to 
implement into Pre-Service Firefighter and Personal 
Support Working in 2014-2015 curriculum 

Content embedded in some Civil/Construction 
courses, and some Trades program courses 

Business programs offered one general education 
course each semester with Aboriginal content 

2.1.4 Hosting Annual Pow Wow Resources committed for Pow 
Wow to be held at Porcupine 
Campus 

Pow Wow hosted in April 2012 

Y Pow Wow held April 14 & 15, 2012; was a huge 
success  

2.1.5 Offering Aboriginal awareness 
training for employees 

Staff trained via May/June  
face-to-face seminars and on-line 
training available year round 

70% of staff trained by  
March 2013 

Y 70% of staff trained in Spring 2012 
On-line training now available  

 
  



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
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2012-2013 – Aboriginal Choices and Directions 
 

Objective 2.2:  increase partnerships with First Nations by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

2.2.1 Developing partnerships with 
health care agencies to offer 
health related courses and 
programs in the James Bay 
Lowlands 

Partnerships developed 

Two partnerships developed 
resulting in a minimum of two 
courses/programs offered by 
January 2013 

P One partnership developed with Canadian Red 
Cross in the James Bay area 

2.2.2 Developing partnerships with 
regional First Nations 
organizations for the development 
of new programs 

Partnerships developed and new 
programs created 

One new program offered by 
January 2013 

Y 
Partnership established and steering committee 
continuing to develop First Nation, Metis, and Inuit 
(FNMI) Youth Summer Retreat initiative to be offered 
in August 2013 and again in 2014 and 2015.  
Initiative is funded through Hydro One consortium 

 

 

Objective 2.3:  increase participation and success of Aboriginal students by: 

2.3.1 Introducing postsecondary 
programs in a blended delivery 
format in First Nation communities 

Programs offered in blended 
delivery format to First Nations 
communities 

Y Individual Business courses offered; insufficient 
enrolment to offer the full Business program along 
the James Bay Coast 

Survey completed and discussed 
with First Nations by June 2012 

Survey completed 

One postsecondary program 
offered by January 2013 

Pre-Health offered in combination of onsite and 
video delivery to Moosonee 

2.3.2 Offering additional programs in 
blended delivery format at 
Moosonee campus 

Programs offered in blended 
delivery format at Moosonee 
Campus 

Two additional programs offered 
by January 2013 

Y Business Management Certificate expanded to 
Moosonee and Contact North for the first time 
January 2013.  Common first year programming 
provides laddering into six other 2nd and 3rd year 
programs 

 
  



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
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3. ORGANIZATION DEVELOPMENT AND RENEWAL   (Renew. Grow. Lead.) 
 

2012-2013 – Organizational Development and Renewal 
 

Objective 3.1:  increase advocacy efforts by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

3.1.1 Advocating with Ministry of 
Training, Colleges & Universities 
(MTCU) for an appropriate 
mandate agreement defining 
Northern’s unique role 

A mandate agreement that reflects 
a comprehensive college 
community with centres of program 
expertise 

Draft mandate agreement 
submitted to Board of Governors 
for approval by March 2013 

Y Board of Governors approved Strategic Mandate 
Agreement (SMA) September 28;  SMA forwarded to 
MTCU September 30, 2012 

3.1.2 Advocating for a fairer distribution 
of funding from MTCU as funding 
programs come under review 

Methodology changed and funding 
distribution proportions reassessed 

Fairer distribution of funding 
advocated by March 2013 

O Discussions held and continue towards fairer 
distribution of funding; Deputy Minister has 
committed to meeting with a Joint Policy and 
Funding Committee on which we have 
representation 
 

3.1.3 Working collaboratively with 
municipalities and First Nations to 
enhance role of college as 
primary postsecondary service 
provider (PSE) in region 

Competing interests from other 
college service providers 
eliminated in favour of Northern 
College or collaborative ventures 
involving Northern College 

College role enhanced by  
January 2013 

O First of three trades and technology program industry 
forums held December 2012.  Targeted guidance 
and school staff.  Two additional forums to be held in 
2013-14 academic year targeting high school 
students and parents 

3.1.4 Advocating for a fairer distribution 
for the Small Northern and Rural 
grant (SNR) by participating on 
review committee 

SNR grant allocation methodology 
changed in Northern College’s 
favour 

Allocation changed by  
March 2013 

O To be addressed by Joint Policy and Funding 
Committee 

3.1.5 Increasing college advocacy 
efforts at MTCU as Post 
Secondary Education (PSE) 
reforms are undertaken 

Northern College represented on 
MTCU work groups and task 
forces 

Advocacy increased by  
March 2013 

O Northern College participated in PSE Vision 
Consultations and continues to advocate 

3.1.6 Expanding advocacy efforts with 
allied ministries at Queen’s Park 
and Ottawa 

Met with ministries and senior 
staff.  Non-traditional funding 
sources from allied ministries 
accessed 

Advocacy increased by  
March 2013 

Y Met with Ministry of Northern Development and 
Mines (MNDM) and Northern Ontario Heritage Fund 
Corporation (NOHFC) staff regarding pan-northern 
Ontario Study North initiative 

 
  



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
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2012-2013 – Organizational Development and Renewal 
 

Objective 3.2:  build infrastructure capacity by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

3.2.1 Applying for funding for Coleman 
Centre for Wildlife & the 
Environment (CCWE) 

Application submitted for specific 
projects at CCWE 

Projects initiated by March 2013 

O Detailed survey and site plan of Coleman Site was 
developed by Civil Engineering students for their 
Technical Project.  Costs will be incorporated in a 
future Northern Ontario Heritage Fund Corporation 
(NOHFC) funding application.  Faculty and 
management have designed the classroom and 
rehabilitation centre building floor plans.  Additional 
planning is required, most critically to model the 
operations and financial impact of CCWE on the 
overall School of Veterinary Science contribution 

3.2.2 Renovating to increase capacity at 
Kirkland Lake, Haileybury and 
Porcupine campuses according to 
Campus Master Space Plan - 
Phase I 

Renovations completed by 
September 2012 Y Renovations completed 

Haileybury Campus 
Basement space renovated to accommodate a 
Nursing lab, a small classroom and part-time faculty 
offices 
Kirkland Lake Campus 
Computer Programmer laboratory renovated to a 
Nursing laboratory. 

New multi-purpose Environmental Technician 
classroom / wet lab facility in Kirkland Lake 
completed and water treatment plant working 
Porcupine Campus 
Marketing, Foundations and Alumni consolidated into 
one office area; Advising Services consolidated into 
one comprehensive service area 

3.2.3 Proceeding with Phase II planning 
recommendations from Master 
Space Plan  

Master Space Plan 
recommendations reviewed to 
improve space efficiencies within 
available project funds 

Phase II renovation plans finalized 
and architects engaged by October 
2012 for summer of 2013 
construction 

P Some contractors engaged but work not completed 

3.2.4 Issuing a Request for Proposal 
(RFP) for building upgrades with 
guaranteed energy reductions and 
with no cost or risk to the College 

RFP issued and replies evaluated 

RFP issued by October 2012 

Contract awarded January 2013 

O RFP delayed.  Drawings from third party not yet 
provided to College  

 
 
  



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
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2012-2013 – Organizational Development and Renewal 
 

Objective 3.3:  implement quality improvement strategies by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

3.3.1 Completing formative program 
reviews 

Formative reviews completed 

95% of all 2011-2012 formative 
program reviews completed by 
March 2013 

O Database for Program Quality Assurance Process 
Audit (PQAPA) completed November 1, 2012.  
Program reviews college-wide entered into data 
base on ongoing basis 

Preparatory and technology and trades programs 
2011-2012 formative reviews completed 

Business, Law Clerk, Environmental Technician and 
Veterinary Science programs formative reviews 
completed 

3.3.2 Completing summative program 
reviews as determined by 
Academic Directors 

Summative reviews completed 

Minimum of three summative 
reviews for the 2011/12 cycle 
completed by March 2013 

O Mining Engineering Technician and General Arts and 
Science program reviews to be completed by  
June 15, 2013 

Veterinary Technician summative review completed 

Police Foundations summative review is in final 
stages of completion 

3.3.3 Accrediting of programs as per 
timelines and standards set by 
accrediting bodies 

Accreditations approved 

Three program accreditations 
and/or endorsements completed 
by March 2013 

Y Bachelor of Science in Nursing program 
accreditation completed.  Accreditation report 
received with favourable findings 

College of Nurses Practical Nursing program 
submission completed October 2012.  Second 
submission scheduled for Fall 2013  

Pre-Service Fire endorsement completed and 
submitted October 2012   

Veterinary Technician program re-accreditation 
completed by Canadian Council of Animal Care 
(CCAC).   

3.3.4 Implementing strategies to improve 
Key Performance Indicator (KPI) 
student satisfaction results 

Strategies implemented 

Three areas of facilities and 
services improved by  
September 2012 

Y Five areas of facilities and services were targeted for 
improvement.  Student focus groups were held in 
November.  Data reviewed to better understand the 
issues/challenges and appropriate strategies to be 
implemented 

3.3.5 Implementing recommendations 
from the marketing plan developed 
for the Welding cluster in Kirkland 
Lake. 

Enrolment increased 

Enrolment in Welding cluster 
increased by 10% by March 2013 

Y 14% increase in cluster 

Welding program videos completed for inclusion on 
web site 

New 3 semester compressed Mechanical 
Technician-Welding Fitter program approved for 
delivery Fall 2013 (replaces tuition-short Welder 
Fitter program) 

Welding shops renovated; new equipment 
purchased 
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2012-2013 – Organizational Development and Renewal 
 

Objective 3.3:  implement quality improvement strategies by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

3.3.6 Updating process manuals and/or 
standards to ensure consistency 
and service excellence throughout 
the college 

Process manuals and standards 
developed 

Three manuals and/or standards 
developed by March 2013 

Y Two new standard directives regarding safekeeping 
of assets and Freedom of information completed 

Accessibility Services, Admissions and Learning 
Resource Centre (LRC) manuals completed   
School College Work Initiative (SCWI) procedures 
manual updated through 2012-13  
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2012-2013 – Organizational Development and Renewal 
 

Objective 3.4:  increase efficiency and productivity by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

3.4.1 Restructuring Information 
Technology services 

Backlog of work orders reduced by 
25% by June 2012 Y Restructuring completed; backlog of work orders 

reduced by 25% 

3.4.2 Upgrading wireless networking 
infrastructure – Phase 1 Request 
for Proposal 

RFP issued by June 2012. 

Contract awarded by  
September 2012 

Y Completed in-house 

3.4.3 Developing an energy 
conservation policy 

Energy conservation policy 
developed 

Energy conservation policy 
developed by September 2012 

Y Draft policy developed 

3.4.4 Improving accessibility and 
building safety at the Haileybury, 
Porcupine  and Moosonee 
campuses 

Seven projects completed by 
September 2012 
Haileybury Campus 
• Freight to passenger elevator 

converted 
Porcupine Campus 
• Second wheelchair ramp in the 

cafeteria constructed 
• Roofs on G-wing, F-wing, and 

student residence replaced 
• disABILITY Services and 

incorporate First Year 
Experience expanded 

JBEC 
• disABILITY Services Centre 

created 
• Wheelchair lift in the 

Telepresence room installed 
• Main entrance lighting 

improved 

P All completed except wheelchair ramp (wheelchair 
ramp deferred pending funding) 

3.4.5 Revising and updating Community 
Employment Services website  
 

Bilingual website revised and 
updates with full suite of 
Employment Ontario programs and 
services 

Website revised and updated by 
March 2013 

Y Bilingual website completed   

Staff training completed   

Website officially launched January 2013 

3.4.6 Maximizing capacity of facilities 
usage by implementing scheduling 
software college-wide  

Business practices changed 

First scheduling pilot completed in 
Fall 2012 semester 

Full software implementation 
completed by September 2013 

Y First pilot completed 

3.4.7 Developing policies and 
procedures to move from a college 
leased laptop model to a student 
purchased laptop model (for laptop 
programs)  

Policy and procedures completed 
by March 2013 C Integrated into BYOD initiative 

Carried over to 2013-2014 Business Plan,  
Item 1.1.2-13 
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2012-2013 – Organizational Development and Renewal 
 

Objective 3.4:  increase efficiency and productivity by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 
Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

3.4.8 Researching and analyzing the 
feasibility of an electronic 
timesheet and attendance system 

Electronic timesheet and 
attendance system researched 
and analyzed 

Research and analysis completed 
by March 2013 

P In discussion with software providers 

3.4.9 Developing and initiating a 
marketing and recruitment strategy 

Marketing and recruitment strategy 
developed and communicated to 
staff 

Strategy in place and 
communicated by March 2013 

C Strategy being developed 

Carried over to 2013-2014 Business Plan,  
Item 3.2.4.-13 
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4. FOCUS ON LEARNERS   (Diversity. Potential. Success.) 
 

2012-2013 – Focus on Learners 
 

Objective 4.1:  ensure quality learning and student success by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 

Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

4.1.1 Developing, implementing and 
supporting instructional process 
standards and expectations that 
promote a pedagogically sound 
teaching and learning 
environment 

Instructional process standards 
developed and implemented 

50% of faculty evaluated and 
found to be using a variety of 
teaching styles that support a 
student centered approach by 
March 2013 

P Draft faculty profile completed 

Faculty evaluation process completed but not 
implemented 

4.1.2 Creating learning and teaching 
modules that faculty will take 
through professional 
development 

Professional development learning 
modules implemented 

Three teaching/learning modules 
created by January 2013 

Y Lunch and Learn sessions offered October 17 and 
November 14, 2012  

Faculty Enrichment half-day sessions offered 
November 16, 21, 22, 2012  

4.1.3 Developing and implementing 
minimum standards for full-time 
and part-time faculty regarding 
use of technology in the 
classroom to increase student 
engagement 

Minimum standards created and 
communicated to faculty 

Standards developed, 
communicated and supported by 
training by September 2012 

P Minimum standards for the use of Blackboard (Bb) 
written and communicated.  Standards for other 
technology to be completed 

4.1.4 Providing additional training for 
faculty on use of Blackboard (Bb) 
Learn in order to better engage 
students  

May/June professional 
development offered 

30 faculty trained during May/June 
2012 

Y 30 faculty completed Bb Learn training June 2012 

4.1.5 Training faculty in the pedagogy 
of teaching using 
videoconferencing 

Dr. Lance Ford training offered by 
Human Resource Services 

Professional development offered 
during May/June 2012 

Y 40 faculty participated in training held May 14 & 17, 
2012 

4.1.6 Providing training for faculty on 
problem solving and analysis 
tools for applied research 

May/June professional 
development offered 

10 additional faculty trained in 
each of  
(1) Basic Lean Tools;  
(2) Intermediate Lean Tools, 
during May/June 2012 

P 7 faculty participated in Basic Lean Tools  

4 faculty participated in Intermediate Lean Tools 

4.1.7 Developing a college-wide 
Literacy and Basic Skills (LBS) 
Customer Service Charter which 
meets Employment Ontario LBS 
program guidelines 

Recently developed provincial LBS 
Customer Service Charter 
reviewed and customized as 
required for each LBS site 

Charter developed by  
September 2012 
 

Y Completed and posted in classrooms   



Legend:   C=Carried Over to 2013-2014 Business Plan P=Partially achieved 
 O=Ongoing, now embedded into College responsibilities Y=Achieved 
 

-22- 

2012-2013 – Focus on Learners 
 

Objective 4.1:  ensure quality learning and student success by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 

Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

4.1.8 Developing and implementing a 
process for effective use of 
collaborative electronic tools 

Process developed, implemented 
and communicated for Movi, 
Blackboard (Bb) Collaborate and 
video conferencing 

Process implemented by  
May 2012 

Y Process developed and shared on common drive 

Approximately 45 faculty and support staff attended 
training in Bb Collaborate June 2012 

Approximately 20 administrators participated in 
video, Jabber/Movi training and Bb Collaborate 
training 

4.1.9 Enhancing the ordering 
procedure for textbooks for all 
students 
  

Pilot project launched for 
Community Services programs to 
select texts for 2012-2013 
academic year 

Pilot project completed by  
June 2012 

Y Enhanced directly through efollette.com; 
efollette.com promotes smart textbook rentals for 
students 
 

4.1.10 Restructuring Distance Learning 
Team to better provide for 
student needs 

New structure developed 

Position Description Forms (PDFs) 
reviewed and updated 

Restructuring completed by  
July 2012 

Y Services restructured 

PDFs completed 

4.1.11 Developing a policy and 
procedures for student success 
and retention 

Policy and procedures developed 
by March 2013 Y Student Success Plan completed  

4.1.12 Creating college-wide processes 
for distance learning 

Distance learning college-wide 
processes aligned by March 2013 Y Alignment completed August 2012 

4.1.13 Increasing online (blended) 
general education options to 
traditional postsecondary 
students 

More general education courses 
made available through online 
(blended) format 

General education options 
increased so that 30% of 
postsecondary traditional students 
have the option to take at least one 
general education course through 
online (blended) learning by  
March 2013 

Y Health and Safety course offered to all trades and 
technology students via Blackboard as well as onsite 

Issues in Environmental Sustainability course 
developed and available asynchronously via 
Blackboard as well as onsite 

General education courses available through Ontario 
Learn 

4.1.14 Creating a best practice 
framework for quality assurance 
for online learning 

Best practice created by auditing 
20% of Blackboard courses 

20% of courses audited and 
feedback provided by March 2013 

Y Best practice framework created 

4.1.15 Implementing a new integrated 
library service software 

New software purchased 

New software implemented by 
September 2012 

Y Project completed  

4.1.16 Initiating a quality assessment 
process to address quality in 
internationally delivered 
programs 

Quality assessment (QA) process 
developed 

New quality assessment process 
developed by March 2013 

Y 
Draft process completed and under review 

International QA process created and sent for 
translation 
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2012-2013 – Focus on Learners 
 

Objective 4.2:  increase access to learning by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 

Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

4.2.1 Identifying and implementing 
student support services needed to 
improve distance learning college-
wide 

Student supports identified and 
implemented 

Supports implemented by  
January 2013 

O New online invigilation service piloted in the Mining 
program Fall 2012 and fully implemented Winter 
2013 

4.2.2 Identifying pilot and showcasing  
programs that will be purposefully 
designed to enhance student 
engagement and act as a ‘living 
lab’ for other programs 

Programs identified and designed. 

One program designed by  
March 2013 

Y Mining program chosen as a pilot project  

4.2.3 Packaging web-based programs 
from existing Ontario Learn 
courses 

Programs identified and submitted 
to Board of Governors and other 
governing bodies for approval 

Two web-based certificate 
programs developed by March 
2013 

Y Home Inspection program under development  

Child and Mental Health Certificate approved by 
MTCU and will be offered through distance 
education September 2013 

4.2.4 Assessing the use of learning 
technology in the classroom 

Annual survey tool developed to 
measure base and increased 
usage 

Number of programs using 
learning technology in the 
classroom increased by March 
2013 

O Rolled into LEID support tool kit 

4.2.5 Identifying how our website can be 
used to better support students 

Online services identified and 
incorporated onto the college 
website 

Northern College website updated 
by March 2013 

Y New student portal launched February 2013 
http://www.mynorthern.ca  

 
 
  

http://www.mynorthern.ca/
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2012-2013 – Focus on Learners 
 

Objective 4.3:  implement outreach activities by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 

Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

4.3.1 Providing outreach services to first 
generation learners at the local 
high schools 

Services developed to be offered 
in partnership with the local high 
schools 

New service offered by  
March 2013 

Not  

achieved 

Outreach specific to first generation high school 
students not achievable.  High schools do not track 
first generation learners 

4.3.2 Developing a marketing and 
recruitment plan to increase the 
number of students studying at a 
distance 

Marketing and recruitment plan 
developed and implemented. 

Plan implemented by March 2013 

C Plans being developed 

Carried over to 2013-2014 Business Plan,  
Item 3.2.4-13 

 

Objective 4.4:  build innovative partnerships by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 

Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

4.4.1 Developing an English for 
Academic Purposes (EAP) course 
to be offered through Continuing 
Education / Distance Education 

Course developed in partnership 
with other colleges 

Course launched by January 2013 

P One specialized EAP course outline completed 

Launch dependent on sufficient enrolment 

4.4.2 Collaborating with business/other 
institutions/industry on applied 
research projects 

Applied research project 
partnerships and contracts with 
industries developed 

Four projects and/or contracts 
established by March 2013 

Y Six projects underway as of  
March 31, 2013: 

1) MediTech (Veterinary Sciences), funded by 
Colleges Ontario Network for Industry 
Innovation (CONII) 

2) Hydro One (Electrical), funded by Hydro One 
3) OVRX Manufacturing Inc. (Instrumentation), 

funded by Natural Sciences and Engineering 
Research Council of Canada (NSERC) 

4) OVRX Manufacturing Inc. (Construction 
Management), proposal is in to CONII for 
funding 

5) A plumbing and heating firm (Computer 
Science).  Preliminary work initiated.  Funded 
by Industrial Research Assistance Program 
(IRAP) via Digital Technology Adoption Pilot 
Program (DTAPP) 

6) Simulation: Interprofessional Education (IPE) 
Project (Health Sciences).  Involvement by 
senior students from Practical Nursing, 
Bachelor of Science in Nursing, Social Service 
programs, Police Foundations and Paramedic   
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2012-2013 – Focus on Learners 
 

Objective 4.5:  generate authentic learners by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 

Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

4.5.1 Implementing practical and applied 
research for solving particular 
problems to provide opportunities 
for an authentic learning 
experience 

Applied research plan 
implemented 

Projects/problems that develop 
new or modify existing products or 
services integrated into 10% of 
programs by March 2013 

Y One multidisciplinary research project from Nursing 
(with Community Services involvement) approved by 
Northern College and Laurentian ethics boards.  On 
track for data completion Spring 2013 

Five programs (Electrical, Companion Animal, 
Instrumentation, Construction Management and 
Computer Science) currently have projects 
underway, as per Applied Research Plan 

4.5.2 Increasing the ability to innovate 
and problem solve by integrating 
applied research into curriculum 

Applied research curriculum 
content integrated into programs 

Applied research specific content 
(modules or elements of modules) 
integrated into 10% of courses by 
March 2013 

O In process 

4.5.3 Developing additional exit points in 
traditional programs with new 
credentials added 

Exit points in programs identified. 

Minimum of two programs with 
additional exit opportunities for 
students and additional credentials 
applied by March 2013 

P Exit point created for 2013 intake Police Foundation 
students to write the Security Guard exam after the 
first year of the program 

4.5.4 Creating and implementing 
shop/lab health & safety inspection 
forms 

Shop/lab inspection forms created 
and implemented 

Forms implemented college-wide 
January 2013 

Y Trades shop/lab inspection forms completed and 
implemented  

Lab manual with health and safety elements 
completed for nursing labs February 2013  
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5. ON HUMAN RESOURCES   (Commitment. Achievement. Excellence.) 
 

2012-2013 – Focus on Human Resources 
 

Objective 5.1:  strengthen recruitment and retention practices by:  

INITIATIVES RESULTS 

Initiative  Measurement/Target Achieved Outcomes 

5.1.1 Organizing a customized formal 
coaching training session for 
college-wide Employment Ontario 
(EO) and Employment Services 
(ES) staff  

A consulting service specializing in 
Employment Ontario/ Employment 
Services service delivery retained 

Y Three one-day training sessions conducted Sept 19-
21 for Employment Services staff college-wide 

90% of Employment Ontario/ 
Employment Services staff trained 
by October 2012 

5.1.2 Finalizing a faculty evaluation and 
development plan 

Faculty evaluation and 
development tool finalized and 
ready for implementation. 

Faculty evaluation and 
development plan finalized by 
June 2012 

P To be finalized in May 2013 

5.1.3 Developing and implementing a 
succession plan 

Succession plan developed and 
implemented by March 2013 O Plan not finalized   

 

Objective 5.2:  enhance employee development by:  

5.2.1 Implementing a professional 
development policy for full-time 
and part-time employees 

Professional development policy 
implemented by March 2013 P Draft policy for full-time employees completed and in 

pilot stage 

Policy for part-time employees not completed 

5.2.2 Analyzing the 2011 Climate Survey 
and developing action plans 
 

Climate survey analyzed with 
action plan in place 

Action plan implemented by  
March 2013 

P 2011 Climate Surveys analyzed and committees 
working on action plans 

 

Objective 5.3:  nurture positive relationships by:  

5.3.1 Implementing  recommendations 
from Communications Focus 
Group 

Recommendations implemented 
by March 2013 Y Recommendations implemented 

5.3.2 Training administrators in the use 
of video technology including 
Skype and Movi to improve 
efficiency in meetings and to 
mitigate the need for travel to 
attend meetings 

Training sessions provided to all 
administrators by September 2012 Y Training provided 

 
  



 
Northern College 2012-2013 Annual Report 

 

 

 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
 

2012-2013 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Statements of 

 

NORTHERN COLLEGE OF 
APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY 
 

Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 

 



 

 
 KPMG LLP Telephone (705) 675-8500 
 Chartered Accountants Fax (705) 675-7586 
 Claridge Executive Centre In Watts (1-800) 461-3551 
 144 Pine Street, PO Box 700 Internet www.kpmg.ca 
 Sudbury ON  P3E 4R6 

 

KPMG LLP, is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.   
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.  

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Governors of Northern College of Applied Arts and Technology 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Northern College of Applied Arts 
and Technology, which comprise the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2013, 
March 31, 2012 and April 1, 2011, the statements of operations and changes in net assets 
(deficit) and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, and notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal 
control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

 



 

 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Northern College of Applied Arts and Technology as at March 31, 2013,        
March 31, 2012 and April 1, 2011, its results of operations and changes in net assets 
(deficit) and its cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 and the 
remeasurement gains and losses for the year then ended March 31, 2013, in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 
Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 
June 11, 2013 
Sudbury, Canada 
 
 





NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
  AND TECHNOLOGY
Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets (Deficit)

Year ended March 31, 2013

Equity in Restricted
Employment- capital and

Operating related assets Endowment Total
(Schedules) (Schedule)

Revenue:
Grants and reimbursements $ 26,955,739   -                   -                  -                  26,955,739   
Tuition fees 4,886,960 -                   -                  -                  4,886,960     
Ancillary sales and services 2,686,920 -                   -                  -                  2,686,920     
Other 4,904,656 -                   -                  -                  4,904,656     
Amortization of deferred
   capital contributions (note 10) -             -                   2,120,198 -                  2,120,198     
Restricted -             -                   -                  338,717 338,717        
Investment income 111,581 -                   113,675 92,775 318,031        

39,545,856 -                   2,233,873 431,492       42,211,221 

Expenses:
Academic 20,773,898 -                   -                  -                  20,773,898   
Administration 6,560,565 -                   -                  -                  6,560,565     
Student services 3,848,926 -                   -                  -                  3,848,926     
Plant and property 2,241,332 -                   -                  -                  2,241,332     
Community services 514,336 -                   -                  -                  514,336        
Employment training programs 2,804,688 -                   -                  -                  2,804,688     
Ancillary 2,383,848 -                   -                  -                  2,383,848     
Amortization of capital assets -                   -                   2,611,543 -                  2,611,543     
Restricted -                   -                   -                  2,954,052 2,954,052     
Employee future benefit and vacation -                   (183,028) -                  -                  (183,028)      

39,127,593 (183,028) 2,611,543 2,954,052 44,510,160 

Excess (deficiency) of
  revenue over expenses 418,263 183,028 (377,670) (2,522,560) (2,298,939)

Net assets (deficit), beginning of year 1,353,850 (3,902,945) 5,598,086 8,591,927 11,640,918   

Endowment contribution -                   -                   -                  13,700 13,700          

Transfer of capital assets (note 11) (273,791) -                   963,286 (689,495)     -                   

Transfer to restricted funds (139,000) -                   -                  139,000       -                   

Net assets (deficit), end of year $ 1,359,322     (3,719,917)    6,183,702    5,532,572    9,355,679     

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Unrestricted
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
  AND TECHNOLOGY
Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets (Deficit)

Year ended March 31, 2012

Equity in Restricted
Current Employment- capital and

operations related assets Endowment Total
(Schedules) (Schedule)

Revenue:
Grants and reimbursements $ 28,796,990   -                   -                  -                  28,796,990   
Tuition fees 4,868,924 -                   -                  -                  4,868,924     
Ancillary sales and services 2,444,947 -                   -                  -                  2,444,947     
Other 5,034,380 -                   -                  -                  5,034,380     
Amortization of deferred
   capital contributions (note 10) -             -                   2,006,293 -                  2,006,293     
Restricted -             -                   -                  342,754 342,754        
Investment income 97,003 -                   368,511 103,619 569,133        

41,242,244 -                   2,374,804 446,373       44,063,421   

Expenses:
Academic 21,272,872 -                   -                  -                  21,272,872   
Administration 6,151,841 -                   -                  -                  6,151,841     
Student services 3,924,071 -                   -                  -                  3,924,071     
Plant and property 2,642,202 -                   -                  -                  2,642,202     
Community services 578,154 -                   -                  -                  578,154        
Employment training programs 2,967,721 -                   -                  -                  2,967,721     
Ancillary 2,532,802 -                   -                  -                  2,532,802     
Amortization of capital assets -                   -                   2,422,888 -                  2,422,888     
Restricted -                   -                   -                  767,519 767,519        
Employee future benefit -                   (152,620) -                  -                  (152,620)      

40,069,663 (152,620) 2,422,888 767,519 43,107,450   

Excess (deficiency) of
  revenue over expenses 1,172,581 152,620 (48,084) (321,146) 955,971        

Net assets (deficit), beginning of year 1,337,541 (4,055,565) 4,179,247 8,902,618 10,363,841   

Ontario Trust for Student Support -                   -                   -                  321,106 321,106        

Transfer of capital assets (note 11) (755,262) -                   1,466,923 (711,661)     -                   

Transfer to restricted funds (401,010) -                   -                  401,010       -                   

Net assets (deficit), end of year $ 1,353,850     (3,902,945)    5,598,086    8,591,927    11,640,918   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Operating

3



NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
  AND TECHNOLOGY
Statement of Cash Flows

Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012

2013 2012

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities:
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $ (2,298,939)   $ 955,971         
Adjustments for:

Amortization of deferred capital contributions (note 10) (2,120,198)   (2,006,293)     
Amortization of capital assets 2,611,543     2,422,888      
Decrease in employee future benefit (97,000) (184,000)

(1,904,594)   1,188,566      
   Changes in non-cash working capital (note 15) (832,442)      (473,023)        

(2,737,036)   715,543         

Financing activities:
Endowment contributions 13,700          321,106         
Deferred contributions (1,556,338)   (1,989,096)     

(1,542,638)   (1,667,990)     

Capital activities:
Purchase of capital assets (1,416,510)   (2,532,440)     
Deferred capital contributions 453,224        696,664         

(963,286) (1,835,776)

4

(963,286)    (1,835,776)     

Investing activities:
Change in value of portfolio investments (476,153)      (57,948)          
Increase in value of sinking fund (113,675)      (368,512)        

(589,828)      (426,460)        

Net decrease in cash (5,832,788)   (3,214,683)     

Cash position, beginning of year 8,863,238     12,077,921    

Cash position, end of year $ 3,030,450     $ 8,863,238      

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

4
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

Northern College of Applied Arts and Technology (the “College”) is an Ontario College 
established as a Community College under The Department of Education Act of the Province of 
Ontario.  The College is a registered charity and is exempt from income taxes under the Income 
Tax Act. 

On April 1, 2012, the College adopted Canadian public sector accounting standards.  The 
College has also elected to apply the 4200 standards for government not-for-profit organizations.  
These are the first financial statements prepared in accordance with these public sector 
accounting standards. 

In accordance with the transitional provisions in Canadian public sector accounting standards, 
the College has adopted the changes retrospectively, subject to certain exemptions allowed 
under these standards.  The transition date is April 1, 2011 and all comparative information 
provided has been presented by applying Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

A summary of transitional adjustments recorded to net assets and excess (deficiency) of revenue 
over expenditures is provided in note 2. 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Basis of presentation: 

These financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the 
unrestricted capital and restricted and endowed funds of Northern College of Applied Arts 
and Technology. 

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards including the 4200 standards for 
government not-for-profit organizations. 

(b) Revenue recognition: 

The College accounts for contributions under the deferral method of accounting as 
follows: 

Operating grants are recorded as revenue in the period to which they relate.  Grant 
amounts relating to future periods are deferred and recognized in the subsequent 
period when the related activity occurs.  Grants approved but not received are 
accrued.  

Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if 
the amounts can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

Externally restricted contributions, other than endowment contributions, are 
recognized as revenue in the period in which the related expenses are recognized.  
Contributions restricted for the purchase of capital assets are deferred and 
amortized into revenue on a straight-line basis at rates corresponding to those of 
the related capital assets. 
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Revenue recognition (continued): 

Contributions received for endowment are reported as an increase in the 
endowment fund balance.  Interest income earned on the resources of this 
endowment fund is reported in the restricted fund. Unrestricted investment income 
is recognized as revenue when earned. 

Tuition fees are recognized as revenue based on the number of teaching days 
within the period. 

(c) Investments: 

Portfolio investments are recorded at market value. 

Sinking-fund investment was recorded at amortized cost. 

(d) Capital assets: 

Capital asset purchases are recorded at cost.  Contributed capital assets are recorded at 
fair value at the date of contribution when the fair value is reasonably determinable.  
Otherwise, contributed capital assets are recorded at a nominal value.  Repairs and 
maintenance costs are charged to expenditures.  Betterments, which extend the 
estimated life of a capital asset, are capitalized.  When a capital asset no longer 
contributes to the College’s ability to provide services, it is written down to its residual 
value.  Amortization of capital assets is recorded on the straight-line basis over the 
following periods:  
 
 

Buildings  40 years 
Site improvements and parking lots  20 years 
Leasehold improvements over the term of the lease 
Furniture and equipment  5 years 
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Employment-related obligations: 

Vacation entitlements are accrued for as entitlements are earned (note 6). 

The College is liable to pay an employee’s accumulated sick leave in the event of 
sickness or injury.   

The College is liable to pay 50% of an eligible employee’s vested sick leave credit on 
termination or retirement. 

For the post-employment benefits (continuation of life, medical and dental during LTD), 
these benefits are accounted for on a terminal basis, in comparison to the non-pension 
post-retirement benefit which is accounted on an accrual basis.  This means that the 
liability for the post-employment benefit is accrued only when a LTD claim occurs.  For 
these benefits, the full change in the liability is being recognized immediately as an 
expense in the year. 

The College is an employer member of the Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology 
Pension Plan, which is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.  The College has 
adopted defined contribution account principles for this Plan because insufficient 
information is available to apply defined benefit accounting principles (note 12). 

(f) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  Significant items 
subject to such estimates and assumptions include the carrying value of capital assets, 
valuation allowances for accounts receivables; and obligations related to employee future 
benefits.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  These estimates are reviewed 
periodically, and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the 
year in which they become known. 

 
(g) Student organizations:  

These financial statements do not reflect the assets, liabilities and results of operations of 

the various student organizations at the College.  
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(h) Financial instruments: 

All financial instruments are initially recorded on the statement of financial position at fair 
value.   

All investments held in equity instruments that trade in an active market are recorded at 
fair value.  Management has elected to record investments at fair value as they are 
managed and evaluated on a fair value basis. 

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments measured 
subsequently at fair value are expensed as incurred.   

Financial instruments are classified into fair value hierarchy Levels 1, 2 or 3 for the 
purposes of describing the basis of the inputs used to determine the fair market value of 
those amounts recorded, as described below: 

Level 1 Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 Fair value measurements are those derived market-based inputs other 
than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly  

Level 3 Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques 
that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data  
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

2. Transitional adjustments: 

(a) Net assets: 

The following table summarizes the impact of the transition to Canadian public sector 
accounting standards on the College's net assets as of April 1, 2011: 

 
 
Net assets: 

As previously reported under Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles, March 31, 2011   $ 11,298,381  

Transition election to recognize all cumulative actuarial 
gains and losses on employee future benefits  242,000 

Adjustment for change in discount rate used to calculate 
employee future benefits and compensated absences  (71,540) 

Adjustment to record accumulated but not vested sick leave  (1,105,000) 
 
Restated, April 1, 2011   $ 10,363,841 
 

In accordance with transitional provisions of Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, the College has elected to use the following exemption for employee future 
benefits:  

The College has elected to recognize all cumulative actuarial gains and losses and 
past services costs in opening net assets. 

Accumulated but not vested sick leave: 

Canadian public sector accounting standards requires the recognition of a liability for sick 
leave benefits that accumulate, but do not vest.  As a result, the College has recognized 
a liability and charge to net assets as disclosed in the table above.  

(i) Amortization of actuarial gains/losses 

The College has elected to recognize actuarial gains and losses at the date of transition 
to Canadian public sector accounting standards directly in net assets.  As a result, the 
College has recognized an increased liability and a charge to net assets. 

(ii) Discount rate used to calculate employee future benefits 

Canadian public sector accounting standards requires these liabilities to be calculated 
with a discount rate that is equal to either the College’s rate of borrowing or the rate of 
return on the plan assets. Prior to transition to these new standards, the discount rate to 
be equal to the yield on high quality corporate bonds.  The College has chosen to 
discount these liabilities using its internal rate of borrowing.  The change in the discount 
rate resulted in changes to the related liabilities and charges to excess of revenue over 
expenditure as disclosed. 
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

2. Transitional adjustments: 

(b) Statement of operations: 

As a result of the above noted elections and the retrospective application of Canadian 
public sector accounting standards, the College recorded the following adjustments to 
excess of revenue over expenses for the year ended March 31, 2012: 

 
 
Net earnings: 

As previously reported under Canadian generally  
accepted accounting principles for year ended  
March 31, 2012   $ 801,848 

Change employee future benefit expense as a result 
 of adjustment to record accumulated but not vested 

sick leave plans  53,000 
Change to employee future benefit expense as a result 
 of changing the discount rate used  101,123 

 
Restated for the year ended March 31, 2012   $ 955,971 
 

(c) Change in accounting policy: 

On April 1, 2012, the College adopted Public Accounting Standards PS 3450 - 
Financial Instruments and PS 2601 – Foreign Currency Translation.  The standards 
were adopted prospectively from the date of adoption. The College has no adjustments 
associated with the adoption of these standards. 

3. Investments: 
 
  Fair Value March 31, March 31, April 1, 

  Hierarchy 2013 2012 2011 
 

Fixed income Level 2 $ 3,970,399 7,861,066 7,440,692 
Mutual funds Level 2  841,115 799,620 793,534 
  $ 4,811,514 8,660,686 8,234,226 

 

 Made up of: 
 Portfolio $ 4,811,514 4,335,361 4,277,413 
 Sinking fund    –     4,325,325  3,956,813 
  $ 4,811,514 8,660,686 8,234,226 
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

4. Capital assets: 
 
 

   Accumulated Net Book 
March 31, 2013  Cost Amortization value 
 

Land $ 369,570 –    369,570 
Buildings  49,164,092 22,271,366 26,892,726 
Site improvements and 

parking lots  310,892 305,728 5,164 
Leasehold improvements  866,897 704,419 162,478 
Furniture and equipment  19,662,315 15,487,833 4,174,482 
  $ 70,373,766 38,769,346 31,604,420 
  
 
 

   Accumulated Net Book 
March 31, 2012  Cost Amortization value 
 

Land $ 369,570 –    369,570 
Buildings  48,478,123 21,302,310 27,175,813 
Site improvements and 

parking lots  310,892 297,743 13,149 
Leasehold improvements  866,897 650,260 216,637 
Furniture and equipment  18,931,775 13,907,491 5,024,284 
  $ 68,957,257 36,157,804 32,799,453 
  
 
 

   Accumulated Net Book 
April 1, 2011  Cost Amortization value 
 

Land $ 369,570 –    369,570 
Buildings  47,390,423 20,422,750 26,967,673 
Construction in progress  253,479 –    253,479 
Site improvements and 

parking lots  310,892 289,758 21,134 
Leasehold improvements  866,897 596,101 270,796 
Furniture and equipment  17,376,620 12,569,371 4,807,249 
  $ 66,567,881 33,877,980 32,689,901 
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 
 
  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 

Trade and other $ 2,057,288 $ 2,837,185 $ 2,849,965 
Payroll related liabilities 709,473  807,298 880,678 
 

  $ 2,766,761 $ 3,644,483 $ 3,730,643 
 

6. Employment related obligations: 
 

  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 
 
Vacation and leave payable $ 2,058,917 $ 2,144,945 $ 2,113,565 
 
Non-pension post-employment obligations $   383,000 $ 364,000 $ 360,000 
Sick leave benefits - vesting 267,000 342,000 477,000 
  - non-vesting 1,011,000 1,052,000 1,105,000 
 
  $  1,661,000 $ 1,758,000 $ 1,942,000 
 

Vacation 

The accrual for vacation represents the liability for earned but unpaid vacation entitlements 
and paid leaves. 

Employee Future Benefits 

Vesting Sick Leave: 

The College has provided for vesting sick leave benefits during the year.  Eligible employees, 
after 10 years of service, are entitled to receive 50% of their accumulated sick leave credit on 
termination or retirement to a maximum of 6 months’ salary.  The program to accumulate sick 
leave credits ceased for employees hired after March 31, 1991.  The related benefit liability 
was determined by independent actuaries on behalf of the College System as a whole. 
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

6. Employment related obligations (continued): 

Non-Vesting Sick Leave: 

The College allocates to certain employee groups a specified number of days each year for 
use as paid absences in the event of illness or injury.  These days do not vest and are 
available immediately.  Employees are permitted to accumulate their unused allocation each 
year, up to the allowable maximum provided in their employment agreements.  Accumulated 
days may be used in future years to the extent that the employees’ illness or injury exceeds 
the current year’s allocation of days.  Sick days are paid out at the salary in effect at the time 
of usage.  The related benefit liability was determined by independent actuaries on behalf of 
the College System as a whole. 

The following tables outline the components of the College’s sick leave benefit entitlements: 
 

  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 

Non-vesting sick leave: 
  Accrued benefit obligation $ 1,023,000 $ 1,105,000 $ 1,105,000 
  Unamortized actuarial loss  (12,000) (53,000) –    
 

Total sick leave benefit entitlement liability $ 1,011,000 $ 1,052,000 $ 1,105,000 
 

The unamortized actuarial loss is amortized over the expected average remaining service life 
as listed below: 
 
 
Accumulated sick leave benefit plan entitlements Academic – 12.1 years 
  Support – 3.2 years 
Employee future benefits  12.8 years 

 

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in estimating the College’s accrued benefit 
liability are as follows: 
 
  2013 2012 
 
Discount rate 2.1% 2.25% 
Salary escalation 0.0% to 2.0% in 2013 1.75% thereafter
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

6. Employment related obligations (continued): 

Other employee future benefits: 

The College maintains defined benefit and defined contribution plans providing other 
retirement and employee future benefits to most of its employees.   

The costs of other post-employment benefits (including medical benefits, dental care, life 
insurance, and certain compensated absences) related to the employees’ current service is 
charged to income annually.  The cost is computed on an actuarial basis using the projected 
benefit method estimating the usage frequency and cost of services covered and 
management’s best estimates of investment yields, salary escalation, and other factors.  Plan 
assets are valued at fair value for purposes of calculating the expected return on plan assets. 

The fair values of plan assets and accrued benefit obligations were determined by 
independent actuaries on behalf of the College System as a whole as at March 31, 2011. 

Information about the College’s post employment benefits is as follows:   
 

  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 

Liability for Employee future benefits $ 439,000 $ 425,000 $ 426,000 
Fair value of plan asset  56,000  61,000 66,000 
 

Funded status $ 383,000 $ 364,000 $ 360,000 
 

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the College’s accrued benefit 
obligation include a discount rate of 2.25% (March 31, 2012 – 3.05%).  The average 
retirement age in the College System is assumed to be 63 and the liability has been 
recalculated as a result of a separation of the benefit pool for retirees and those on long-term 
disability from active employees.   
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

6. Employment related obligations (continued): 

For measurement purpose, the annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered 
health care benefits was assumed as follows: 
 

   Other benefit 
   plans 
 
Drug  10.5% (grading to 4.5% in 2026) 
Hospital   4.5% 
Other medical  4.5% 
Dental  4.5% 

 

7. Long-term debt: 

The long-term debt of $4,439,000 was a loan payable to the Ontario Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation.  The loan did bear a fixed interest rate of 9.17% and was secured by a first 
mortgage on the student residence at the Porcupine campus.  Under the terms of the loan 
agreement, interest payments of $203,528 were made semi-annually and the principal 
amount was repaid on July 1, 2012.  By Board resolution, a 9.5% Province of Ontario sinking-
fund investment was used at maturity to retire this loan payable. 

 

8. Bank borrowing facilities: 

The College’s bank borrowing facilities provide for the following: 

i) $1,000,000 operating line of credit bearing interest at prime less 0.5% 

ii) $1,000,000 lease line of credit for equipment financing, with the interest rate determined 
at time the financing is drawn 

There have been no amounts drawn on either line of credit noted above at March 31, 2013 
(2012 - $Nil; 2011 - $Nil).  The bank borrowing facilities are secured by a general security 
agreement. 
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

9. Deferred contributions: 

Details of the continuity of these funds are as follows: 
 
  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 

Balance, beginning of year $ 2,958,819  $ 4,947,915  $ 4,750,600  

Additional contributions received 933,901 3,014,977 3,663,736 
Amounts taken into revenue (2,490,239) (5,004,073) (3,466,421) 
 

Balance, end of year $ 1,402,481 $ 2,958,819 $ 4,947,915 
 

 

10. Deferred capital contributions: 

Deferred capital contributions represent the unamortized and unspent balances of donations 
and grants received for capital asset acquisitions.  Details of the continuity of these funds are 
as follows: 
 
  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 

Balance, beginning of year $ 27,087,692  $ 28,397,321  $ 18,030,145  

Additional contributions received 453,224 696,664 11,829,531 
Amounts amortized into revenue (2,120,198) (2,006,293) (1,462,355) 
 

Balance, end of year $ 25,420,718 $ 27,087,692 $ 28,397,321 
 

The balance of unamortized and unspent funds consists of the following: 
 
  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 

Unamortized deferred capital contributions $ 25,420,718 $ 27,087,692 $ 28,028,467 
Unspent contributions –   –    368,854 
 

Balance, end of year $ 25,420,718 $ 27,087,692 $ 28,397,321 
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

11. Capital fund: 

a) The equity in capital assets is calculated as follows: 
 
  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 

Capital assets $ 31,604,420  $ 32,799,453  $ 32,689,901  
Amounts financed by: 

Unamortized deferred capital contributions (25,420,718) (27,087,692) (28,028,467) 
Long-term debt, net of  

sinking-fund investment (note 7) –    (113,675) (482,187) 
 

  $ 6,183,702 $ 5,598,086 $ 4,179,247 
 

b) Transfer for capital assets: 
 
  March 31, March 31, April 1, 
  2013 2012 2011 
 

Purchase of capital assets $ 1,416,510  $ 2,532,440  $ 12,694,732  
Amounts funded by deferred  
  capital contributions (453,224) (1,065,517) (12,397,021) 
 

  $ 963,286 $ 1,466,923 $ 297,711 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 
 
 
 

12. Pension plan: 

Contributions made by the College during the year amounted to approximately $2,270,295 
(2012 - $2,006,040). 

Substantially all of the employees of the College are members of the Colleges of Applied Arts 
and Technology (“CAAT”) Pension Plan (the “Plan”), which is a multi-employer defined 
benefit pension plan available to all eligible employees of the participating members of the 
CAAT.  Plan members will receive benefits based on the length of service and on the 
average of annualized earnings during the highest five consecutive years prior to retirement, 
termination or death.  The College makes contributions to the Plan equal to those of the 
employees.  Contribution rates are set by the Plan’s governors to ensure the long-term 
viability of the Plan. 

Pension assets consist of investment grade securities.  Market and credit risk on these 
securities are managed by the Plan by placing Plan assets in trust and through the Plan 
investment policy. 

Any pension surplus or deficit is a joint responsibility of the members and employers and may 
affect future contribution rates.  The College does not recognize any share of the Plan’s 
pension surplus or deficit as insufficient information is available to identify the College’s share 
of the underlying pension asset and liabilities.  The most recent actuarial valuation filed with 
pension regulators as at January 1, 2012 indicated an actuarial surplus of $154 million. 

13. Endowment funds: 

The following information outlines the activity of the Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund 1 
(OSOTF I), the Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund II (OSOTF II) and Ontario Trust for 
Student Support Fund (OTSS) matching program.  These amounts are reflected in the net 
assets restricted for student purposes. 
 
Schedule of changes in Endowment Fund balances 
For the year ended March 31 
  
        2013  2012 
 OSOTF I  OSOTF II  OTSS  Total  Total 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 2,748,800  570,897 983,757 4,303,454 3,982,348 
Cash donations received 

from other sources  –     –     13,700  13,700  83,204 
OTSS funds received  

from MTCU  –     –     –     –    237,902 
OTSS funds receivable 

from MTCU  –     –     –     –     –    
 
Balance, end of year $ 2,748,800  570,897 997,457 4,317,154 4,303,454 
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13. Endowment funds (continued): 
 
Schedule of changes in expendable funds available for awards 
For the year ended March 31 
  
        2013  2012 
  OSOTF I  OSOTF II  OTSS  Total  Total 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 49,238   29,005   30,236   108,479  126,239  
Investment income, net  

of expenses  55,076  11,418  20,849  87,343  99,635 
Bursaries awarded  (52,303)  (9,473)  (14,041)  (75,817) (117,395) 
 
Balance, end of year $ 52,011  30,950  37,044  120,005 108,479 

 
Bursaries awarded #  83  18  36  137  228 

 
The bursaries awarded under OTSS are comprised of 3 to OSAP recipients totalling $1,475 
and 33 to non-OSAP recipients totalling $12,566. 
 

 

14. Commitments: 

(a) The College has a five year lease with the Attorney General for a section of its Kirkland 
Lake campus for a courthouse at $147,003 per year.  The lease expires November 2013. 

(b) The College has entered into agreements to lease certain premises and equipment.   

The total annual minimum lease payments to maturity are approximately as follows: 
 
 

2014 $ 473,888 
2015  314,268 
2016  185,018 

  $ 973,174 
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15. Changes in non-cash working capital: 
 
  2013 2012 
 

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable $ 40,029  $ (256,526)  
Decrease (increase) in grants receivable 82,309 (140,277) 
Increase (decrease) in inventories and prepaid expenses 8,970 (21,440) 
Decrease in accounts payable  

and accrued liabilities (877,722) (86,160) 
Increase (decrease) in vacation and leave payable (86,028) 31,380 
 

  $ (832,442) $ (473,023) 
 

16. Contingency: 

As at March 31, 2013, certain legal actions are pending against the College.  An estimate of 
the contingency cannot be made since the outcome of these matters is indeterminate.  
Should any loss result from the resolution of these matters, such loss would be charged to 
operations in the year of disposition. 
 

17. Guarantees: 
 

The College’s primary guarantees are as follows: 

a) Indemnity has been provided to all directors and/or officers of the College for various 
items including, but not limited to, all settled suits or actions due to association with the 
College, subject to certain restrictions.  The College has purchased directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance to mitigate the cost of any potential future suits or actions.  The 
term of indemnification is not explicitly defined, but is limited to the period over which the 
indemnified party served as governor, director or officer to the College.  The maximum 
amount of any potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated. 

b) In the normal course of business, the College has entered into agreements that include 
indemnities in favour of third parties, such as student work placement agreements, 
purchase and sale agreements, confidentiality agreements, engagement letters with 
advisors and consultants, outsourcing agreements, leasing contracts, information 
technology agreements and service agreements.  These indemnification agreements 
may require the College to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the 
counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of 
litigation claims or statutory sanctions that may be suffered by the counterparty as a 
consequence of the transaction.  The terms of these indemnities are not explicitly defined 
and the maximum amount of a potential reimbursement cannot be reasonably estimated. 
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18. Financial instruments: 

(a) Credit risk: 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in a financial loss.  The College is exposed to this risk relating to its cash and 
accounts receivable.  The College holds its cash accounts with federally regulated 
chartered banks who are insured by the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation. In the 
event of default, the College’s cash accounts are insured up $300,000 (2012 - $300,000).  

The College’s investment policy operates within the constraints of the investment 
guidelines issued by the MTCU and puts limits on the bond portfolio including portfolio 
composition limits, issuer type limits, bond quality limits, aggregate issuer limits, 
corporate sector limits and general guidelines for geographic exposure.  All fixed income 
portfolios are measured for performance on a quarterly basis and monitored by 
management on a monthly basis.  The guidelines permit the College’s funds to be 
invested in bonds issued by the Government of Canada, a Canadian province or a 
Canadian municipality having a rating of A or better, or corporate investments having a 
rating of A (R-1) or better. 

Included in accounts receivable of $1,213,927 are student receivables in the amount of 
$641,438 of which 19% is past due.  An amount of $331,105 has been provided for an 
impairment allowance on the total accounts receivable balance. 

(b) Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of market factors.  Market factors include three types of risk: 
currency risk, interest rate risk and equity risk.  

The College’s investment policy operates within the constraints of the investment 
guidelines issued by the MTCU.  The policy’s application is monitored by management, 
the investment managers and the board of governors.  Diversification techniques are 
utilized to minimize risk.  

(c) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss caused by fluctuations in fair value or 
future cash flows of financial instruments because of changes in market interest rates.  

The College is exposed to this risk through its interest bearing investments. 

The College’s bond portfolio has interest rates ranging from 1.45% to 2.35% with 
maturities ranging from May 6, 2013 to January 28, 2015.  

At March 31, 2013, a 1% fluctuation in interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, would have an estimated impact on the fair value of bonds of $39,704. 
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18. Financial instruments (continued): 

(c) Equity risk: 

Equity risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets arising from changes 
in equity markets.  The College is exposed to this risk through its equity holdings within 
its investment portfolio.   

(d) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will not be able to meet all cash outflow 
obligations as they come due. The College mitigates this risk by monitoring cash 
activities and expected outflows through extensive budgeting and maintaining 
investments that may be converted to cash in the near-term if unexpected cash outflows 
arise.  

Accounts payable are all current and the terms of the long-term debt are disclosed in  
note 7.  

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or 
policies, procedures and methods used to measure the risk. 

19. Capital disclosures: 

The College considers its operating capital to consist of current portion of long-term debt, net 
assets invested in capital assets, internally restricted net assets and unrestricted net assets.  
The College’s overall objective for its capital is to fund capital assets, future projects and 
ongoing operations.  The College manages its capital by appropriating amounts to internally 
restricted net assets for anticipated future projects, contingencies and other capital 
requirements. 

The College also considers its endowments, as part of its capital.  The College’s objective 
with regards to endowments is to grow the endowment principal and maximize investment 
income to increase funding for student aid. 

The College may not incur a deficit without the approval of the Minister of Training, Colleges 
and Universities of Ontario.  The College would be required to eliminate any accumulated 
deficit within a prescribed period of time. 

The College is not subject to any other externally imposed capital requirements and its 
approach to capital management remains unchanged from the prior year. 

 



NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
   AND TECHNOLOGY
Schedule of Continuity of Restricted and Endowment Funds  

Years ended March 2013 and March 31, 2012

Restricted Funds

Balance, Scholarships Balance,
March 31, and other March 31,

2012 Additions disbursements 2013

Board of Governors Entrance Scholarship $ 25,169       363           7,000             $ 18,532       
J.H. Drysdale Award 74,751       1,485        500                75,736       
Other 884,861     307,801    1,160,230      32,432       
Ontario Student Opportunity and Trust
   Disbursements Fund 108,479     87,343      75,817           120,005     
Capital 3,195,213  173,500    2,400,000      968,713     

$ 4,288,473  570,492    3,643,547      $ 1,215,418  

Endowment Funds

Balance, Balance,
March 31, March 31,

2012 Additions 2013

Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund 1 $ 2,748,800  -                $ 2,748,800

Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund 2 570,897     -                570,897

Ontario Trust for Student Support Fund
and endowments 983,757     13,700      997,457

$ 4,303,454 13,700      $ 4,317,154

Total restricted and endowment funds $ 8,591,927 584,192 3,643,547 $ 5,532,572

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
   AND TECHNOLOGY
Schedule of Continuity of Restricted and Endowment Funds  

Years ended March 2013 and March 31, 2012

Restricted Funds

Balance, Scholarships Balance,
April 1, and other March 31,
2011 Additions disbursements 2012

Board of Governors Entrance Scholarship $ 31,836       333           7,000             $ 25,169       
J.H. Drysdale Award 74,763       988           1,000             74,751       
Other 957,385     625,417    697,941         884,861     
Ontario Student Opportunity and Trust
   Disbursements Fund 126,239     99,635      117,395         108,479     
Capital 3,730,047  121,010    655,844         3,195,213  

$ 4,920,270  847,383    1,479,180      $ 4,288,473  

Endowment Funds

Balance, Balance,
April 1, March 31,
2011 Additions 2012

Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund 1 $ 2,748,800  -                -                     $ 2,748,800

Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund 2 570,897     -                -                     570,897

Ontario Trust for Student Support Fund
and endowments 662,651     321,106    -                     983,757

$ 3,982,348 321,106    $ 4,303,454

Total restricted and endowment funds $ 8,902,618 1,168,489 1,479,180 $ 8,591,927

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
   AND TECHNOLOGY
Schedule of Operating Fund Revenues

Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012

2013 2012

Grants and reimbursements:
Post Secondary:

General operating grant $ 7,908,494  $ 8,050,148  
Special support grants 9,249,594  9,153,332  
Grant for municipal taxation 94,275  96,900  
Rental add-on grant 270,300  270,612  

17,522,663  17,570,992  
Industrial Skills and Adult Training:

Federal Programs 1,717,205  3,041,735  
Apprenticeship per diem grant 1,123,213  1,629,720  
Literacy and Basic Skills/Emerging Skills 1,443,614  1,462,430  
Employment programs 3,410,823  3,483,447  

7,694,855  9,617,332  
Special Purpose Grants:

Aboriginal projects 300,000  300,000  
Plant 204,465  78,762  
Special needs 412,469  370,987  
Day care and social services funding 434,833  536,583  
Termination/sick leave buyout recovery 98,541  -                
OSAP special bursaries 236,669  282,533  
Oth 51 244 39 801
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Other 51,244  39,801  
1,738,221  1,608,666  

$ 26,955,739  $ 28,796,990  

Tuition fees:
Post-secondary $ 4,839,380  $ 4,840,010  
Industrial skills and adult training 47,580  28,914  

$ 4,886,960  $ 4,868,924  

Other revenue:
Daycare fees $ 57,972  $ 53,966  
Special employment programs 5,571  50,571  
Rents 199,992  199,992  
Excluded activity fees 2,833,376  2,940,934  
Other fees 1,079,328  1,133,513  
Miscellaneous 728,417  655,404  

$ 4,904,656  $ 5,034,380  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY
Schedule of Operating Expense by Cost Object

Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012

Employment
Student Plant and Community Training Total Total

Academic Administration Services Property Services Programs 2013 2012

Academic salaries $ 11,212,145       114,505          5,572             -          -              -                 $ 11,332,222   $ 11,766,875 
Administration salaries 885,681           1,345,090       221,620          45,495    -              215,870          2,713,756    2,423,531   
Support salaries 2,011,023         2,172,689       1,724,535       635,367  362,737      1,403,016       8,309,367    8,126,562   
Stipends and allowances -                   5,371             525,429          471,144          1,001,944    1,256,397   
Fringe benefits 2,777,493         866,225          491,150          140,871  91,469        397,547          4,764,755    4,455,003   
Instructional supplies 1,328,484         4,469             245,388          -          4,912          23,579           1,606,832    1,802,040   
Field work 20,927             -                 -                 -          21,933        -                 42,860         40,848        
Staff employment -                   67,161           -                 -          -              -                 67,161         65,050        
Professional development 3,925               122,676          -                 -          366             14,509           141,476       187,755      
Travel 273,913           102,025          95,070           207         1,123          29,960           502,298       588,904      
Promotion and advertising 128,235           26,469           367,304          -          -              16,735           538,743       531,143      
Equipment maintenance 51,896             42,721           -                 37,551    -              4,975             137,143       184,313      
Telecommunications 50,227             197,380          6,839             497         -              34,196           289,139       291,832      
Office supplies 118,521           233,027          89,480           1,030      -              19,367           461,425       581,694      
Janitorial -                   18,975           -                 52,932    1,796          -                 73,703         85,991        
Facilities maintenance -                   -                 -                 185,219  -              -                 185,219       657,661      
Vehicle -                   -                 -                 10,843    -              -                 10,843         7,749          
Insurance -                   273,824          -                 -          -              -                 273,824       300,393      
Interest 88,294             96,865           -                 -          -              -                 185,159       141,483      
Professional fees 107,797           281,926          10,741           -          -              6,000             406,464       312,552      
Contracted services 1,227,745         415,191          32,895           53,049    -              5,480             1,734,360    1,956,322   
Utilities -                   -                 -                 983,996  -              -                 983,996       1,057,050   
Municipal taxation -                   -                 -                 94,275    -                 94,275         96,900        
Rentals 487,592           173,976          32,903           -          30,000        162,310          886,781       797,793      
Bad debt (recoveries) -                   -                 -                 -          -              -                 -                   (178,980)     

$ 20,773,898         6,560,565         3,848,926         2,241,332  514,336         2,804,688         36,743,745   37,536,861 

Ancillary expense 2,383,848    2,532,802   

Total expense $ 39,127,593   $ 40,069,663 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NORTHERN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
   AND TECHNOLOGY
Schedule of Ancillary Revenue and Expenses

Years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012

2013 2012

Bookstore Operations

Revenue $ 105,253  $ 158,537  

Operating expense 24,095  47,931  

Excess of revenue over expense $ 81,158  $ 110,606  

Student Residence Operations

Revenue:
Rent $ 491,556  $ 432,002  
Service charges 61,470  60,351  

553,026  492,353  
Expense:

Operating 393,154  418,830  
Interest 98,140  407,056  

491,294  825,886  

27

 
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expense $ 61,732  $ (333,533) 

Parking Grounds Operations

Revenue $ 122,228  $ 114,790  

Operating expense 139,062  121,772  

Deficiency of revenue over expense $ (16,834) $ (6,982) 

Ancillary Facilities Operations

Revenue $ 1,906,413  $ 1,679,267  

Operating expense 1,729,397  1,537,213  

Excess of revenue over expense $ 177,016  $ 142,054  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF ADVERTISING AND MARKETING COMPLAINTS 
 
 
 
 
 

No complaints were received by Northern College during 
the 2012-2013 academic year. 
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2012-2013 Northern College Board of Governors 

 
 Office Board Member Region 

 
E Chair Robert McBean Swastika 

X 
E 

First Vice-Chair Don Wyatt Timmins 

C 
U 

Second Vice-Chair Denis Berube Kapuskasing 

T 
I 

Governor at Large George Kemp New Liskeard 

V 
E College President Fred Gibbons  

 Administrative Representative Cheryl Carbone Porcupine 
 Academic Representative John Collins Porcupine 
 Student Representative Cassia Powers Haileybury 
 Support Staff Representative Sherry Panagapka Kirkland Lake 
  Rock Foy Timmins 
  Mike Baker New Liskeard 
  Stan Louttit Moose Factory 
  Mike Milinkovich Matheson 
  Micheal Miller Timmins 
  Rachel Pineault Timmins 
  Terry Rosko Kirkland Lake 
  Alan Spacek Kapuskasing 
 Executive Assistant to the Board Pierrette Fortier  President’s Office 
 Treasurer Loran Charbonneau Finance & Administration 

 
Under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Acts, the mailing addresses and telephone numbers of the 
members of the Board of Governors are confidential.   
 
Any correspondence to the Board members may be directed to them c/o the Executive Assistant to the Board, Northern College, 
4715 Highway 101 East, P.O. Box 3211, Timmins, Ontario   P4N 8R6 
 

http://www.northernc.on.ca/about/governors.html 

  

http://www.northernc.on.ca/about/governors.html
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Annual Report Year Ended March 2013 

 
The Northern College Foundation operates as a department of the college and is not separately incorporated.  Its 

financial activity is consolidated and reported within the college’s audited financial statements. 
 
 
Fund-Raising Activities 
Unlike many of the larger Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology, the Northern College Foundation does 
not yet conduct an annual gift campaign, operate an ongoing major gift program or directly engage its Board of 
Governors in fund-raising activities.  
 
A large part of the Foundation’s role is to work collaboratively with campuses, program faculty, government funding 
agencies and college supporters to secure financial and in-kind resources for specific capital projects. This past 
year activities supported fundraising for a legacy project and reunion weekend in support of The Haileybury School 
of Mines (HSM) 100th Anniversary, and the Northern Welding Trade Show in Kirkland Lake. 
 
Endowments, Scholarships and Bursaries 
 
Northern College has Endowed Funds amounting to $4.3 Million that have accumulated over the college’s life. 
Historically, the generosity of initial donors was matched under various provincial government matching funds 
programs, with the most recent program, the Ontario Trust for Student Support (OTSS), operating from 2005 until 
it was discontinued in March 2012. Government annual funding for OTSS has been redirected towards the Ontario 
Tuition Rebate program. While the principal balance of our total accumulated endowed funds pool continues to be 
available to fund bursaries from investment income, the rate of growth of our Endowed Funds has been dampened 
by this change. 
 

ENDOWED FUNDS – AS AT MARCH 31, 2013 
 

 
* Donations from Metis Nation of Ontario in FY12 & $25k TD Canada Trust were not matched. 

 
Since the college does not have a large alumni database, an annual giving campaign or an ongoing major gifts 
program, the amount of donations received annually is sporadic. In addition, another factor which historically 
affected the amount of funds we generated via OTSS was the matching formula. In some past years Northern had 
benefited from a provincial policy that extended additional support to those colleges with endowments of less than 
$1,000 per student from the earlier Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund (OSOTF). Northern had sometimes 
been eligible to receive enhanced matching on funds raised above our respective historic OSOTF average. 
 
  

31-Mar-13 Donations Matching 
Funds Total

OSOTF 1 1,384,267$ 1,364,533$   2,748,800$   
OSOTF 2 285,449$    285,449$      570,897$      
OTSS 381,384$    566,073$      947,457$      
Other * 50,000$      N/A 50,000$        
TOTAL 2,101,100$ 2,216,055$   4,317,154$   

31-Mar-12 4,292,159$   
INCREASE 25,000$      25,000$        
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In 2013 our Endowed Funds grew by $25k thanks to the generosity of TD Canada Trust’s 2013 donation to our 
endowment fund. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
5-Year Annual Endowment Donations  

 

 
 

The College administers a number of bursary and trust funds, some of which receive funding each year from 
sponsors to cover the current year payout (“flow-through”), while others are funded wholly, or in part, from 
investment income earned on a principal amount that was donated earlier. The amount of bursaries we are able to 
pay out is a function both of the size of the endowment as well as the annual return on invested funds.  
 
In addition, some bursaries are funded from the Tuition Set Aside (TSA) Fund, an obligation whereby the College 
has to spend a set percentage of tuition fees earned in the previous year (in the range of 85) on bursaries and 
student employment in the current year. Accordingly, it grows or shrinks depending on enrolment with a one year 
lag.  It is under increasing pressure as other sources of funding for these purposes diminish. The reporting cycle 
for TSA covers Sept1, 2012 to August 31, 2013 so the 2012-13 figures are amount paid out from April 1, 2012 to 
March 31, 2013. 
 
Because of the lower rate of return on endowed funds, the overall value of bursaries awarded in the year ended 
March 2013 dropped by $132k (35%) from the previous year. Bursaries paid from trust funds were down by $88k 
(33%).  
 

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

NC donations

OTSS match

Total

ITEM 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11
2011-12 

Restated 2012-13
NC donations 57,902$          19,034$          114,323$    46,904$       25,000$       
OTSS match 148,149$       19,034$          170,732$    84,937$       -$             
Total 206,051$       38,068$          285,055$    131,841$    25,000$       

TD Canada Trust, unmatched 25,000$        

  Total 2013 Endowment Donations 25,000$        
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Note: Because of the difference in timing of reporting various bursary elements, the above graph is intended to illustrate 
the "broad brush" trends. 
 
Other Foundation Activities 
 
The Northern College Foundation, along with the Alumni Council, provided support to 3 large events this past year 
ending March 31, 2013: 
 

1) 100th Anniversary of the Haileybury School of Mines (HSM) 
Photo of the ribbon-cutting ceremony to unveil the legacy 
project showcase commemorating 100 years of mining 
education excellence: (Left to right) Leslie Bogart, oldest 
member of HSM Alumni Association at 101 years of age 
cutting the ribbon; Brian Dobbs, President of HSM Alumni 
Association and HSM historian; Doug Clark, Northern 
College Foundation Manager; Fred Gibbons, President-
Northern College; Doug Walli – Member of Mining 
Governing Council, newly inducted member of HSM Hall of 
Fame, and son of O.E. Walli, the first Principal of HSM. 

 
230 people attended the HSM 100th anniversary 
weekend celebration June 15-17, 2012, and enjoyed the 
weekend’s events, reconnecting with classmates, 

networking with others from the mining industry and taking part in the unveiling of the HSM 100th 
anniversary legacy project.  
 
This project aimed to provide a fitting tribute to a century of excellence in mining education; to the HSM’s 
historic roots supporting the growth of first the Cobalt mining camp, then northern Ontario & Quebec, and 

($000) 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 Change - $ Change - %
Total Bursaries Awarded (Incl. Flow-through; Excl. Spec. Needs) $352 $301 $445 $372 $240 ($132) -35%
Bursaries paid from Trust Funds $325 $201 $380 $268 $180 ($88) -33%
Investment return earned $21 $109 $124 $111 $93 ($18) -16%
Bursaries paid out from Tuition Set Aside fund $27 $100 $65 $104 $60 ($44) -42%
Return earned on Investments 0.5% 2.6% 2.9% 1.4% 2.0% 0.6%
% of Total Bursaries awarded that are paid from Trust Funds 92% 67% 85% 72% 75% 3%
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eventually to the Canadian and global mining industry; that acknowledged the mining industry support and 
partnerships that the HSM and Northern College have developed at the Haileybury campus and beyond; 
that reflected our current post-secondary mining engineering technician program and current corporate 
mining training programs. And we wanted a project that would connect today’s students to our historic 
roots, our Alumni Association, Foundation goals and bursaries, and tradition of excellence in education in 
a way that was contemporary, dynamic and engaging. 
 
A hallway adjacent to the Haileybury campus gymnasium was transformed into an HSM and mining 
showcase, with wall story panels featuring the history of the HSM; historic and current photo collages and 
photo valances lining the walls; new showcases; an updated contemporary presentation of the HSM Hall 
of Fame members (including 2 recipients of the Order of Canada), with photos and brief biographies and 
an interactive touch-screen kiosk featuring information about the HSM and Alumni, the campus and 
community today, the Foundation and donor recognition. The college is indebted to the many sponsors 
from the mining industry and the HSM Alumni Association that made this project possible. Individual 
project donor recognition on this fully funded $100k project, is via signage on the campus, the touch-
screen kiosk, and soon, the college web site. 
 

2) Northern Welding Show – Kirkland Lake 
 
 
The first ever Northern Welding Trade Show held at Northern College’s Kirkland Lake campus was a great 

success bringing in over 500 attendees including students 
and industry representatives which was the committee’s 
original goal. This event was initiated by the Materials 
Joining Innovation Centre (MaJIC), a non-profit corporation 
closely affiliated and colocated with our Kirkland Lake 
School of Welding Engineering Technology (SWET). In 
addition, organizing leadership and industry liaison was 
generously provided by Tom Van Loon, a SWET Alumni 
member who also sits on our Welding Program Advisory 

Committee. The show gave northern companies the opportunity to see the latest advancements in welding 
technology and consumables as well as network and recruit future employees. It offered a welding skills 
competition open to students and industry representatives as well as live welding demonstrations. The 
trade show provided students with the opportunity to learn more about the industry and set out future 
career paths/opportunities. 24 Exhibitors participated, purchasing a total of 30 booths. Some of the key 
corporate sponsors of the event were Select SAI Inc and Arcos Industries, Linde Canada, Lincoln Electric, 
ESAB, Air Liquide Canada, Praxair and Miller. The trade show also included non-industry booths such as 
the Town of Kirkland Lake, Northern College Alumni Association, Fednor, Enterprise Temiskaming, 
Community Futures Development Corporations for the North, etc. to raise awareness of the type of 
funding that is available for companies wishing to expand in the North as well as provide general 
information.  
 
As an addition to the exhibits, the event featured a dinner which included presentations 
from guest speaker and Kirkland Lake Foundation Committee member Dan McCormack, (Mineral 
Exploration, Mining and the Big Gap) and Peter Heinz, (Introduction to the Ring of Fire). Approximately 
100 people attended the dinner, and later that evening 184 people enjoyed comedian Derek Edwards at 
Northern College’s auditorium. Overall the event was a success as exhibitors were pleased with the job 
leads they received as well as the organization of the show as a whole.  
The trade show had financial sponsorship and planning support from the college and Alumni Council, 
while the organizing committee extended thanks for the great Kirkland Lake community support that 
powered the event: approximately 100 volunteers helped with various aspects of the show. 
 

  



 
Northern College 2012-2013 Annual Report 

 
 

3) Mental Health: Remove The Stigma – An Evening with Valerie & Catherine Pringle 
Northern’s Foundation and Alumni Development Office plays a role in organizing certain events at the 
college which, while not direct fund-raisers, do play a role in broadening perspectives and raising the 
college’s profile as the sole English language post-
secondary educational institution in the region.  
 
Approximately 200 attendees participated in this October 
2012 event held at our Porcupine campus but made 
available to attendees at our other campuses via 
videoconference.  The event was organized to raise 
awareness, inform and educate members of our 
community and College about mental health matters, 
thus helping to reduce the shame around coming forth to seek help.  Keynote speakers were Valerie and 
Catherine Pringle. Valerie is one of Canada's best known broadcasters, and her daughter, Catherine, is a 
communications professional and advocate for the increased awareness of and support for those suffering 
from mental health issues who spoke about her own experience with severe anxiety and depression. The 
event achieved its main goal of raising awareness while breaking even financially thanks to the support of 
NorthernTel and Canadian Mental Health Association ($5k each), LakeShore Gold Corp, Cedar Meadows 
Resort & Spa, Northern College Alumni and Attawapiskat Resources ($1k each). 

 
Foundation Directions 
The already “lean” Northern College Foundation organization is now reduced to part of the time of one manager, 
and one full-time central support position with duties including Foundation and Alumni development and donor 
liaison activities, college event planning, and clerical support to the Foundation office and campus Financial Aid 
Officers and their bursary and award events.  The Foundation is spread across a diverse collection of relationship-
based entities (Alumni Council, Foundation committee(s)), 4 campuses each with distinct campus community 
personalities and needs, a recurring calendar of events and cycles (bursaries, graduations, tax-receipting) as well 
as a changing overlay of special event and program and project-driven initiatives that each call for focused fund-
raising and organizing energy and ability. It is also a “virtual” organization in the sense that depending on the 
project or cause it draws upon additional members from any area of the college and our communities as 
appropriate.  Its annual workload is heavily influenced by the strategic and project priorities of the college. 
 
2012-13 Priorities: 
 

1) Fundraising:  
• Prospect research to identify and then contact potential donors with high potential (capacity + 

Northern College affinity) to make Major Gift contributions to college projects, programs and/or 
bursaries. 

• Individual projects. Currently: 
i. Kirkland Lake Pilot Water Treatment Plant – in-kind donations in support of the miniature 

on-site plant which will enable students to treat raw water and monitor the quality of the 
water they are treating in a system purpose-built for teaching in this program. 

ii. Kirkland Lake Auditorium Seat Replacement – supporting a community campaign to raise 
the $100k required to replace the 44-year-old seating in the campus auditorium which is a 
popular community cultural venue. 

iii. Aboriginal youth summer camp (an initiative that fits within all four of our strategic 
directions) 

2) Aboriginal Alumni Profiles - Identify Aboriginal Alumni & feature their success stories. Benefits include 
creating role models and mentors to help overcome psychological barriers to entry, increasing our 
Strategic Plan initiative in the areas of Aboriginal Perspectives and Accessible Education. 

3) Alumni participation in a structured annual series of activities connecting students to the region with a 
welcoming and uniquely “Northern Experience” 

4) College event-planning support, as required.  



 
Northern College 2012-2013 Annual Report 

 
 

 
 

APPENDIX F 
 
 

COLLEGE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 
 

  



 
Northern College 2012-2013 Annual Report 

 
 

 College Council 
 

2012-2013 Annual Report 
 
1. Mandate 
 

College Council was established under Board of Governors’ By-Law No. 2 in January 2010 with a 
mandate to foster two-way communications and provide a means for students and staff to advise 
the President on matters of importance to students and staff members.  College Council is also a 
forum for the President to disseminate information to the College community. 

 
2. Membership 
 

During 2012-2013, membership was comprised of 11 core (voting) members and 7 resource 
members.  A membership list is attached as Appendix 1.  The Council maintained representation 
from students and all staff groups from our four campuses.   

 
3. Meetings 
 

Consistent with By-Law No.2, Council held three regular meetings on: 
 
i. November 30, 2012  
ii. March 1, 2013 
iii. May 8, 2013 

 
4. Communication 
 

During this third term, the Council had the opportunity to delve into communications with a view to 
improving member-constituent information sharing; raising awareness about the Council; and 
inviting greater input towards meeting agenda content from the college at large through NorAction 
notices. (NorAction is the college intranet.)  A College Council repository was also created on the 
Student Portal to provide all students with access to committee materials.  
 
A main item on agendas this year was sharing new policies – many of which were shared in draft 
form to seek input from all staff groups and students.  
 
The college adopted a new 2013-2016 Strategic Plan which took effect as of April 1st.  College 
Council was kept apprised of its developments and was among the first to be informed about new 
and exciting strategic directions.   
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Council members were particularly enthused about new college institutional aspirations that 
represent a commitment to everyone’s professional and personal success.  

 
5. Effectiveness 

 
Before the conclusion of its third term, the Council will again be invited to examine its mandate as 
an opportunity for continuous improvement.   
 
Member participation at meetings continues to be excellent with quorum being achieved at each 
meeting. 

 
6. Summary 
 

The Council made great strides towards improving communications this term.  Increasingly, 
members are bringing information or inquiries forward on behalf of their colleagues and on this 
point, the goal of increasing awareness about the Council is being achieved. 
 
Seven members are completing their term of service as of August 2013 and each member will be 
recognized with a certificate of appreciation.  An election process to select new representatives will 
be initiated in May/June 2013.   
 
In consideration of the increased awareness and participation at the Council table, of new initiatives 
being implemented to support new strategic directions and of new institutional aspirations the 
Council can look forward to an exciting 2013-2014 term. 

 
 
 

Approved by College Council on May 8, 2013  
 
Moved by:   J. Collins  
Seconded by: D. Nankervis 
 
THAT College Council approves the 2012-2013 Annual Report as presented and that the report be included 
in the Northern College Annual Report to be submitted to the Ministry. 
            Carried 
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College Council Membership 
 

September 2012 – August 2013 
 
 

Representative Core Term Ends Resource Campus Ext. 
Richard Kallio Academic 2013  Kirkland Lake 3705 
John Collins Academic 2013  Porcupine 2519 
  Vacant-  Academic     
  Vacant-  Academic     
Rosa Lavoie Admin 2014  Porcupine 7230 
Anna Szelag Support 2013  Porcupine 2247 
Jennifer Wright Support 2013  Kirkland Lake  
Tracey Daoust Support 2014  Kirkland Lake 3635 
Debbie Nankervis Support 2014  Porcupine 7247 
Julie Wesley NSA 2013  Porcupine  
Scott Molson SEC 2013  Kirkland Lake  
Andre Souckey Disability Svcs. 2013  Porcupine  
Fred Gibbons President   Porcupine 7136 

Resource Members 
Peter MacLean   VP Porcupine 6867 
Lynn Berthiaume   Registrar Porcupine 2193 
Cheryl Carbone   HR KL/HL 7203 
Doug Clark   Director KL/HL 8833/3627 
Tori Hanson   Director Porcupine 2292 
Judy Rantala   Director Porcupine 2407 
Pierrette  Fortier E.A.   Porcupine 7136 

 
 

Core Members 
Academic Staff ................................................................ 4 
Support Staff ................................................................... 4 
Students .......................................................................... 3 
Administrative Staff ........................................................ 1 
President  ..................................................................... 1 
 

Resource Members 
Vice-President, Academic and Student Success ......... 1 
Registrar ................................................................... 1 
Academic Directors ................................................... 3 
Director of Human Resources or designate ............... 1 
Community, Business Development & Empl. ............ 1 
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